IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

RALPHS GROCERY COMPANY,

Plaintiff and Appellant

v.

AUG 2 7 2010

UNITED FOOD AND COMMERCIAL WORKERS UNION LOCAL 8,

Defendant and Respondent.

Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal Third Appellate District, Case No. C060413 (Sacramento Superior Court Case No. 34-2008-00008682-CU-OR-GDS, The Honorable Loren McMaster, Judge)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVIS, COWELL & BOWE, LLP

Steven L. Stemerman (BAR No. 067690)
Elizabeth A. Lawrence (BAR No. 111781)
Andrew J. Kahn (BAR No. 129776)
Paul L. More (BAR No. 228589)
Sarah Grossman-Swenson (BAR No. 259792)
595 Market Street, Suite 1400

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the Court of Appeal err in holding that Labor Code §1138.1 violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution because it sets procedural requirements for issuing injunctions in cases involving or growing out of labor disputes that do not apply in other cases?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal err in holding that the Moscone Act, Code of Civil Procedure §527.3, violates the First Amendment because it prohibits injunctions against a labor union's peaceful picketing on the privately owned sidewalk surrounding a retail store?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeal err in holding that the Moscone Act and Labor Code §1138.1 violate commercial property owners' First Amendment rights by requiring them to accommodate other speakers' messages on their property?

4. Do the walkways and parking lots abutting a retail store in a larger shopping center qualify as public for under *Robins v. Pruneyard*Shopping Center (1979) 23 Cal.3d 899 when they connect the retail store to the shopping center's common areas and when they are used to communicate a message related to the retail store's business?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Third Appellate District's opinion declares unconstitutional two California statues—Labor Code §1138.1 and the Moscone Act—that are drawn *verbatim* from the federal Norris-LaGuardia Act.

In so holding, the opinion warps the First Amendment doctrine of content-discrimination to prohibit California from passing viewpoint-neutral, speech-promoting legislation that provides targeted procedural protections or selectively abrogates the common law. Labor Code §1138.1 sets heightened procedural standards for issuing injunctions against peaceful activity in labor disputes, including expressive activity, whether the injunction is sought by (or against) an employer, a union, an individual employee, or anyone else. As interpreted by this Court in *Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. San Diego County Dist. Council of Carpenters* (1979) 25 Cal.3d 317 (*Sears II*), the Moscone Act prohibits injunctions against peaceful picketing by labor unions on the sidewalks outside of retail stores. Both statutes reflect the Legislature's reasoned conclusion—based on decades of

federal and state experience—that labor disputes should be open to vigorous, public debate and should be regulated primarily by administrative tribunals rather than the State's courts.

Neither statute *abridges* anyone's speech, even indirectly. (See U.S. Const., amend. I ["Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech."].) Ralphs Grocery Company invokes *private property rights* to limit labor union speech that it does not want customers to hear. Labor Code §1138.1 simply makes it more difficult for Ralphs to get an injunction furthering this fundamentally private goal. The Moscone Act restricts Ralphs's ability to invoke trespass law to limit speech about a labor dispute.

The Third Appellate District nevertheless concluded that both statutes are content-discriminatory and unconstitutional. It found Labor Code §1138.1 violates the First Amendment because it "adds requirements for obtaining an injunction against labor protesters that do not exist when the protest, or other form of speech, is not labor related." (Opn. at p. 28.) It held that the Moscone Act is unconstitutional because it "favors speech related to labor disputes over speech related to other matters." (Opn. at p. 17.)

The court based these erroneous conclusions on *Police Department* v. Mosley (1972) 408 U.S. 92 and Carey v. Brown (1980) 447 U.S. 455,

¹ Citation herein is to the Opinion issued July 19, 2010 (attached as Exhibit A). The published decision is also available at (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1078.

two Supreme Court decisions involving entirely different constitutional concerns. In both cases, the law in question expressly prohibited speech in a public forum based on its content and exempted labor-related picketing from this prohibition. It was the government's content-based restriction on speech that made the laws unconstitutional. (*Mosley*, *supra*, 408 U.S. at p. 99; *Carey*, *supra*, 447 U.S. at p. 462.)

But *Mosley* and *Brown* do not permit a court to invalidate legislation that is exclusively *speech-protective* simply because the legislation does not extend the same protection to all forms of speech. The U.S. Supreme Court has never held that a state's selective abrogation of potentially speech-limiting common law rights violates the First Amendment. The Third Appellate District's premise—that *any* differential treatment of speech based on its content is invalid—has never been the law. (*Davenport v. Washington Educ. Assn.* (2007) 551 U.S. 177, 188; *Los Angeles Alliance for Survival v. City of Los Angeles* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 352, 368.)

If left unreviewed, the Third Appellate District's expansive view of content-discrimination would threaten a significant amount of uncontroversial state and federal legislation. California has many procedural protections that recognize particular dangers to specific types of speech. Tenants are protected from landlords' right of unlawful detainer when that right is invoked in retaliation for speech involving tenant-landlord disputes. (Civ. Code §§798.51, 1942.5 & 1942.6.) Journalists and

doctors enjoy content-based statutory protection from common-law defamation that is not extended to others. (Civ. Code §§48a & 43.7.)

Doctors, lawyers, and psychiatrists have content-based speech privileges under the Evidence Code. (See, e.g., Evid. Code §990 et seq.) Under the Third Appellate District's theory, these laws are unconstitutional because their protections do not apply to everyone.

Federal statutes, too, would be unconstitutional under this view. The Norris-LaGuardia Act, which Congress passed in 1932, contains the same limitations on equity jurisdiction and heightened standards for issuing injunctions in labor disputes as do Labor Code §1138.1 and the Moscone Act. (See 29 U.S.C. §\$104, 107.) The National Labor Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. §151 *et seq.* (NLRA), gives employees a statutory right to speak about unions on their employer's private property, but does not protect these same employees if they wish to talk to their co-workers about religion or politics. (See *Republic Aviation Corp. v. NLRB* (1945) 324 U.S. 793.) Both of these statutes would be constitutionally suspect under the Third Appellate District's reasoning.

There would be no principled basis for sparing laws that are part of our basic statutory fabric from the court's constitutional axe. This demonstrates that something is very wrong with the court's approach.

Indeed, to reach its result, the Third Appellate District had to override this Court's settled precedent, contrary authority from other courts

of appeal, and its own prior opinion. In *Sears II*, this Court affirmed the constitutionality of the Moscone Act. (25 Cal.3d at pp. 331-32.) But the Court of Appeal dismissed this holding as a non-binding "plurality" view, ignoring the fact that a fourth Justice concurred in the lead opinion's constitutional holding. (*Id.* at p. 333 [Newman, J., concurring].)

The Third Appellate District created a conflict with the First Appellate District, which upheld the constitutionality of the Moscone Act in *M Restaurants Inc. v. San Francisco Local Joint Executive Board* (1981) 124 Cal.App.3d 666. *M Restaurants* held that "section 527.3 does not deny equal protection" and that its classification "bears a rational relationship with its purpose." (*Id.* at p. 677.) Yet the Third Appellate District wrongly dismissed this constitutional holding as "dicta." (Opn. at p. 26-27.)

The Third Appellate District also overruled its own prior decision upholding Labor Code §1138.1 over content-discrimination and equal protection claims. (Waremart Foods v. United Food & Commercial Workers (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 145 [Waremart I].)

Finally, and most radically, the court avoided the central problem with its constitutional theory—the lack of any governmental abridgement of speech—by creating a new First Amendment right to *exclude* speech from commercial property. Without any briefing on the subject, the court held *sua sponte* that the Moscone Act and Labor Code §1138.1 infringe on Ralphs's *First Amendment* right not to be forced to "host or accommodate

another speaker's message." (Opn. at p. 3.) But the Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected the notion that commercial property owners like Ralphs have any First Amendment right to exclude speakers from their property.

(Pruneyard Shopping Center v. Robins (1980) 447 U.S. 74, 88; Rumsfeld v. Forum for Academic & Institutional Rights (2006) 547 U.S. 47, 63-65

[FAIR].)

Even if Labor Code §1138.1 and the Moscone Act did not bar Ralphs's request for an injunction, the shopping center walkway and parking lot on which United Food & Commercial Workers 8 (the "Union") was demonstrating is a public forum under *Pruneyard I*, *supra*, 23 Cal.3d 899. The Union—like the missionaries, signature solicitors, and vendors who use these areas—has a right to picket and handbill in this public forum even if the Moscone Act and Labor Code §1138.1 did not apply.

In fact, the Union's constitutional right to publicize its boycott is greater, since this speech relates to Ralphs's business: "citizens have a strengthened, not a diminished, interest in speech that presents a grievance against a particular business in a privately owned shopping center, including speech that advocates a boycott." (Fashion Valley Mall, LLC v. NLRB (2007) 42 Cal.4th 850, 864 [internal citation omitted].) The Third Appellate District ignored Fashion Valley's holding and effectively overruled In re Lane (1969) 71 Cal.2d 872 and Schwartz-Torrance Investment Corp. v. Bakery & Confection Workers Union (1964) 61 Cal.3d

766, both of which *Fashion Valley* expressly endorsed. (Opn. at pp. 15-16; see *Fashion Valley*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 864, fn.6.)

Instead, the Court held that the walkways and parking lots abutting retail stores located in larger shopping centers are *categorically* non-public, even when the center is a *Pruneyard*-type forum, the walkway connects the retail store to the shopping center's common-use courtyards, and the speech in question presents a grievance against the store. (Opn. at pp. 14-15.)

In short, the Third Appellate District struck down California statutes using reasoning that would invalidate many other state and federal statutes; misapplied First Amendment content-discrimination doctrine to statutes that do not abridge anyone's speech; endorsed a new First Amendment right to exclude speech that has been rejected by the Supreme Court; and disregarded this Court's opinions. Respondent respectfully requests that this Court grant review of the Third Appellate District's decision in order to reverse and return the law to its previous equilibrium.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Factual Background

Ralphs² operates a Foods Co grocery store in a mixed-use, outdoor mall in South Sacramento called College Square. College Square also

The grocery store operates under the name Foods Co and is associated with Ralphs, a subsidiary of the Kroger Company. (1JA 003.)

includes restaurants, other retail establishments, a bank, nail and hair salons, and several storefronts yet to be leased. (RT 20, 21, 35-36, 70-71.)³

There are three common courtyards in College Square, one of which is directly adjacent to Foods Co and connected to the store by a walkway that passes the store's entrance. (3JA 0486, 508-512.) College Square's courtyards offer benches, eating tables, a mechanical hobbyhorse for children, vending machines, and shade trees. (RT 34-35; 3JA 0486, 508-512.) The mall's name derives from its proximity to a nearby community college, and the mall invites visitors, including visitors from the college and a nearby high school, to congregate in the public space.

The public gains access to the courtyards and the mall's stores by following a shared driveway to a shared parking lot containing several hundred parking spaces. (RT 26, 37.) Sidewalks and walkways wind through the mall, allowing visitors to stroll freely from shop to restaurant and to any of the three courtyards. (3JA 511-512.) There are no segregated areas designated for Foods Co customers only.

The Union established a picket line at Foods Co in July 2007, and maintained it until July 2010. (See RT 10.) The picketers held signs announcing the Union's dispute with Foods Co and offered leaflets to customers, asking them to boycott the store. (RT 12, 28, 58.) The Union's

The Record of Transcript from the trial court is referred to herein as "RT." The Joint Appendix is referred to by volume and page number, *i.e.*, "3JA 000."

dispute with Foods Co concerned the store's non-union status and failure to provide adequate family health benefits, which undermined the viability of benefits provided at Foods Co's unionized competitors. (See 3JA 0489.)

It is undisputed that the picket line was entirely peaceful. (RT 57.) The picketers did not enter the store or block ingress or egress. (3JA 494-495.) They did not approach shoppers before they exited their cars. (3JA 494.) There was no vandalism. (RT 26-27.) No delivery trucks were blocked. No customers were prevented from shopping. The trial court specifically found that there was no evidence of any violence, threats, fraud, or property damage. (3JA 642-643.)

During this time, several other groups and individuals used College Square and the sidewalk in front of Foods Co to convey their messages. Missionaries distributed materials and solicited money, often on the walkway in front of Foods Co. (RT 59, 66; 3JA 498-504.) Solicitors for the Sacramento Bee stood inside the doors of Foods Co, approaching shoppers to sell subscriptions. (RT 33, 58, 63-64; 3JA 502-503.) Signature-gatherers seeking support for political petitions approached College Square visitors, including on the walkway in front of Foods Co. (RT 31, 64, 66-67; 3JA 504-507.) A group was permitted to use the parking lot to sell fireworks, and this group put leaflets on the cars in the parking lot. (RT 34.) Other individuals sold items by approaching College

Square visitors in the parking lot and on the sidewalk in front of Foods Co. (RT 58.)

After six months of peaceful Union picketing, Ralphs created onerous new rules to limit the Union's criticism. (RT 24; 3JA 487-88.) The new policy prohibited any demonstrating from Sunday through Friday between 11:00 a.m. and 1:30 p.m. and between 4:00 p.m. and 7:00 p.m. (3JA 487-88.) It banned all demonstrating in the weeks preceding Martin Luther King Day, Presidents Day, and several other holidays, resulting in a total ban for at least seven weeks. (*Ibid.*) The rules also limited the number of demonstrators on the walkway in front of Foods Co to two people, among other restrictions. (*Ibid.*)

The Union peacefully continued its actions, maintaining the same behavior and hours it had established, as did the missionaries, signature-gatherers, subscription agents, and other solicitors who used the walkway and parking lot. (RT 62-67.) After several more months, Ralphs sought court intervention to force the Union, and only the Union, to comply with its restrictive rules.

Procedural Background and Decision Below

On May 28, 2008, the trial court held that the Moscone Act was unconstitutional and set an evidentiary hearing pursuant to Labor Code \$1138.1. (2JA 440-42.) After the evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied Ralphs's motion for a preliminary injunction, finding that Ralphs

had not met the requirements for injunctive relief set forth in Labor Code §1138.1. The trial court also found that Ralphs had failed to carry its burden that its rules were reasonable time, place, and manner restrictions under the guidelines of *Fashion Valley*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th 850. The court issued an Order Denying Motion for Preliminary Injunction on October 3, 2008. (3JA 639-643.)

Ralphs appealed. Recognizing the importance of the case, the Attorney General filed an amicus curiae brief supporting the Union, and industry groups filed an amicus curiae brief supporting Ralphs.

The Third Appellate District reversed. It held that the Moscone Act and Labor Code §1138.1 violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution because they allow "the state, based on the content of the speech, [to] force the owner or possessor of real property that is not a public forum to give an uninvited group access to the private property to engage in speech." (Opn. at p. 2.) Doing so, the court held, violated Ralphs's First Amendment rights because "[f]orcing a speaker to host or accommodate another speaker's message violates the host's free speech rights." (Opn. at p. 3 [citing *Hurley v. Irish-American Gay, Lesbian & Bisexual Group* (1995) 515 U.S. 557, 566].)

The Third Appellate District first concluded that the "entrance area and apron" of the Foods Co store is private under California law. (Opn. at pp. 11-16.) The court found it necessary to address this issue because "if the front entrance and apron of the Foods Co store is a public forum, we need not consider the constitutionality of the Moscone Act and Labor Code section 1138.1 because Ralph's time, place, and manner restrictions were unreasonable for a public forum and that conclusion by itself supports the trial court's decision to deny injunctive relief." (Opn. at p. 12.)

According to the court, "[t]he Foods Co store in College Square is indistinguishable from the stand-alone stores in shopping centers in [Van v. Target Corp. (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 1375], a case in which the Court of Appeal held that the entrance areas and aprons of such stores are not public forums." (Opn. at pp. 12-13.)

The court rejected the Union's reliance on *Lane*, *supra*, 71 Cal.2d 872 and *Schwartz-Torrance*, *supra*, 61 Cal.2d 766, which hold "that a privately owned shopping center must permit peaceful picketing of businesses and shopping centers, even though such picketing may harm the shopping center's business interests." (*Fashion Valley*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 864.) Although this Court endorsed *Lane* and *Schwartz-Torrance* in *Fashion Valley*, the Third Appellate District held that these cases "are no

Elsewhere, the court referred to the walkway in front of Foods Co as a "sidewalk or apron." (Opn. at p. 7.) The court did not define the term "apron."

longer independently viable" and "cannot be read to expand the rights of individuals engaging in speech on private property beyond the analysis of *Pruneyard* and *Fashion Valley*." (Opn. at pp. 15-16.)

The Third Appellate District next held that the Moscone Act is unconstitutional, finding it "denies the property owner involved in a protest over a labor dispute access to the equity jurisdiction of the courts even though it does not deny such access if the protest does not involve a labor dispute." (Opn. at p. 22.) Relying on *Mosley*, *supra*, 408 U.S. 92, and *Carey*, *supra*, 447 U.S. 455, the Third Appellate District held that the Moscone Act is therefore unconstitutionally content-based under the First Amendment.

The court recognized an "obvious difference" between the Moscone Act and the laws at issue in *Mosley* and *Carey*. The Moscone Act "selectively *allows* speech in a *private* forum" by "withdrawing a remedy of the property owner," while the laws at issue in *Mosley* and *Carey* "selectively *excluded* speech from a *public* forum based on content." (Opn. at p. 21 [emphasis added].) But the court found this distinction legally irrelevant because the Moscone Act "forces Ralphs to provide a forum for speech based on its content." (Opn. at pp. 21-22 [citing *Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. v. Pub. Utils. Commn.* (1986) 475 U.S. 1].)

The Third Appellate District then held that Labor Code §1138.1 "suffers from the same constitutional defect as the Moscone Act" because it

"adds requirements for obtaining an injunction against labor protesters that do not exist when the protest, or other form of speech, is not labor related."

(Opn. at p. 28.) According to the court, Labor Code §1138.1 therefore "abridges Ralphs's free speech rights by forcing it to host or accommodate speech with which it disagrees." (Opn. at p. 33.)

The Third Appellate District concluded that the Moscone Act and Labor Code §1138.1 violate Ralphs's First Amendment rights *sua sponte*. Neither party argued that Ralphs's free speech rights were implicated in the case.

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