NO. S185544

**IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

---

---

**RALPHS GROCERY COMPANY,**

*Plaintiff and Appellant,*

v.

**UNITED FOOD AND COMMERCIAL  
WORKERS UNION LOCAL 8,**

*Defendant and Respondent.*

SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

SEP 15 2010

Fredrick K. Onirich Clerk

Deputy

---

---

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal,  
Third Appellate District, Case No. C060413

---

---

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

---

MIRIAM A. VOGEL (SBN 67822)  
TIMOTHY F. RYAN (SBN 51488)  
TRITIA M. MURATA (SBN 234344)  
**MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP**  
555 West Fifth Street, Suite 3500  
Los Angeles, California 90013-1024  
Telephone: 213.892.5200  
Facsimile: 213.892.5454

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

**E. A note about the related case involving Foods Co's Fresno store.**

A virtually identical lawsuit — same Union, same size and type of Foods Co store, same picketing, same rules, same issues — is pending in the Fifth Appellate District and oral argument is set for next month (October). (*Ralphs Grocery Company v. United Food and Commercial Workers Union Local 8*, 5th Civ. No. F058716.) (See Part III, *post*.)

**THE REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

As we will now explain, the Court of Appeal's decision is correct and should not be disturbed. Review should be denied.

**I. FOODS CO'S SACRAMENTO STORE IS NOT THE FUNCTIONAL EQUIVALENT OF A PUBLIC FORUM.**

As the Court of Appeal correctly held, Foods Co's Sacramento store is not the functional equivalent of a traditional public forum within the meaning of *Pruneyard*, 23 Cal.3d 899 or *Fashion Valley*, 42 Cal.4th 850. Leaving to one side the fact that California is one of only five states imposing quasi-public obligations on property that is otherwise privately owned and open to the public only for commercial purposes (*Fashion Valley*, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 870, 874-876, dissenting opn. of Chin, J.; *Hudgens v. NLRB* (1976) 424 U.S. 507, 517-521 (*Hudgens*) [federal law does not follow *Pruneyard*]; *UFCW, Local 919 v. Crystal Mall Assocs., L.P.* (Conn. 2004) 852 A.2d 659, 666-669), there is no *factual* reason in this case to

extend the public forum doctrine to Foods Co's modest retail establishment.<sup>4</sup>

Neither is there any legal reason to make that leap of logic. California's intermediate reviewing courts have consistently refused to extend *Pruneyard* to modest retail establishments, allowing them to restrict and even prohibit expressive activities on their private property, and this Court has never questioned those decisions. (*Trader Joe's Co.*, 73 Cal.App.4th 425, 428 [preliminary injunction barring signature solicitations at a stand-alone store]; *Costco*, 96 Cal.App.4th 740 [stand-alone stores may prohibit all expressive activity]; *Albertson's*, 107 Cal.App.4th 106 [preliminary injunction barring expressive activity at store within small commercial center]; *Slevin*, 120 F.Supp.2d 822 [privately owned apron in front of store not transformed into public property by hot dog stand or modest seating area]; *Van*, 155 Cal.App.4th 1375, 1377 [no signature gathering in area surrounding individual retail store "even when that store is part of a larger shopping center"].)

As we said, Foods Co's College Square store is not a *Pruneyard*-type shopping center. And as the Court of Appeal put it, our Sacramento store is "indistinguishable from the stand-alone stores in shopping centers" described in *Van* and *Albertson's*. (Slip Opn., p. 12.)

---

<sup>4</sup> We are not talking about private property with all the attributes of a municipality, or private property to which there is no reasonable, feasible, alternative access (*Marsh v. Alabama* (1946) 326 U.S. 501) but only about privately owned property open to the public for a limited purpose (shopping) and otherwise accessible from adjacent public streets.

## **II. THE SPECIAL PROTECTION AFFORDED TO LABOR ACTIVITY BY THE MOSCONE ACT AND SECTION 1138.1 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL CONTENT-BASED DISCRIMINATION.**

The Court of Appeal held that the Moscone Act (which deprives California's courts of jurisdiction to enjoin labor-related activities) and section 1138.1 (which independently makes it virtually impossible to obtain injunctive relief against labor activities) violate the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution because both statutes impermissibly favor labor speech over all other speech. The Court of Appeal got it right.

### **A. The Moscone Act.**

The Moscone Act provides that “no court nor any judge nor judges thereof, shall have jurisdiction to issue any restraining order or preliminary or permanent injunction which, in specific or general terms, prohibits any person or persons, whether singly or in concert, from [lawfully picketing, distributing leaflets, or doing any other peaceable act related to collective bargaining disputes].” (§ 527.3, subd. (b).) As the Union concedes, the Moscone Act “immuniz[es] certain kinds of labor-related speech” — and *only* labor-related speech — “on private property from trespass law.” (Pet., p. 24.)

The Court of Appeal (i) relied on two United States Supreme Court cases prohibiting content-based discrimination that favors labor unions (*Mosley*, 408 U.S. 92 and *Carey*, 447 U.S. 455), (ii) rejected a number of inconsistent California cases because they failed to consider the First Amendment implications of their decisions (*Schwartz-Torrance*, 61 Cal.2d 766, *Lane*, 71 Cal.2d 872, *Sears II*, 25 Cal.3d 317, *Cal Waremart*, 87



Cal.App.4th 145, and *M Restaurants*, 124 Cal.App.3d 666, and (iii) adopted the reasoning of the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals in *Walmart Foods v. NLRB* (D.C. Cir. 2004) 354 F.3d 870 (*D.C. Walmart*) to support its decision that the Moscone Act is constitutionally infirm. (Slip Opn., pp. 17-28.) The Court of Appeal reached the right result for the right reasons.

### 1. *Mosley and Carey*

*Mosley*, 408 U.S. 92, condemned a Chicago ordinance prohibiting picketing within 150 feet of a school *except* for picketing related to a labor dispute, explaining that the ordinance made an “impermissible distinction between labor picketing and other peaceful picketing.” (*Id.* at p. 94.) Under the First and Fourteenth Amendments, said the Court, “government may not grant the use of a forum to people whose views it finds acceptable, but deny use to those wishing to express less favored or more controversial views.” (*Id.* at p. 96.) The Moscone Act fails for precisely this reason.

*Carey*, 447 U.S. 455, condemned an Illinois statute prohibiting picketing on the public streets and sidewalks adjacent to residences, *except* for picketing a place of employment in a labor dispute. (*Id.* at pp. 457, 471.) The United States Supreme Court expressly rejected the argument the Union makes here — that the state’s interest in allowing labor protests justifies differential treatment — holding that the “central difficulty with this argument is that it forthrightly presupposes that labor picketing is more deserving of First Amendment protection than are public protests over other issues, particularly the important economic, social, and political subjects about which [others] wish to demonstrate.” (*Id.* at p. 466.)

As the Court of Appeal pointed out, the only difference between our case and the laws at issue in *Mosley* and *Carey* is that the Moscone Act

“selectively allows speech in a private forum based on the content of the speech by withdrawing the remedy of the property owner or possessor while the laws scrutinized in *Mosley* and *Carey* selectively excluded speech from a public forum based on content. *This difference, however, is not legally significant. The effect on speech is the same: the law favors speech related to labor disputes over speech related to other matters* — it forces [Foods Co] to provide a forum for speech based on its content.” (Slip Opn., pp. 21-22, italics added.)

## 2. *Sears II* and its progeny.

Just as the Court of Appeal correctly followed the United States Supreme Court’s decisions in *Mosley* and *Carey*, so too did it properly find that the California cases reaching a different result were wrongly decided.

*Sears II*, in which this Court upheld the then newly enacted Moscone Act, was not followed by the Court of Appeal for two valid reasons — *Sears II* is a non-binding plurality opinion (*Board of Supervisors v. Local Agency Formation Com.* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 903, 918) and it did not consider the First Amendment issues presented by *Mosley* and *Carey*. (*Sears II*, 25 Cal.3d at pp. 327-328, fn. 5; see *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1182, 1195 [“An opinion is not authority for propositions not considered”].) For the latter reason, the Court of Appeal similarly (and correctly) rejected *Lane*, 71 Cal.2d 872, *Schwartz-Torrance*, 61 Cal.2d 766, *M Restaurants*, 124 Cal.App.3d 666, and its own decision in *Cal-Waremart*, 87 Cal.App.4th 145. (Slip Opn., pp. 17-28.)<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> The Union’s reliance on *Senn v. Tile Layers Protective Union* (1937) 301 U.S. 468 (Pet. 17, fn. 5) is misplaced. In *Senn* — which predates *Mosley* and *Carey* by four decades — the United States Supreme

(Footnote continues on next page.)

### 3. *D. C. Waremart*

The D.C. Circuit, forced to fend for itself after this Court declined its request to certify the issue, had to decide whether California law gave labor organizers a right to leaflet in the privately-owned parking lot of a stand-alone grocery store. (*D.C. Waremart*, 354 F.3d at p. 871.) Relying on *Mosley* and *Carey*, the D.C. Circuit held that *Sears II*, *Lane* and *Schwartz-Torrance* are no longer valid because they provide special protection for labor activities that is not afforded to expressive activities by anyone else. (*Id.* at pp. 874-877.)

Here, the Court of Appeal correctly held that the Moscone Act is substantively indistinguishable from the legislation condemned in *Mosley* and *Carey*. By allowing Union representatives to enter onto Foods Co's private property for a purpose other than shopping when entry may be forbidden to all other demonstrators, the Moscone Act grants the use of a forum to people whose views it finds acceptable, notwithstanding that this forum is otherwise closed to everyone except the owner's invitees. It follows ineluctably that the Moscone Act is facially unconstitutional and unenforceable. (*Mosley*, 408 U.S. at pp. 97-98; *Carey*, 447 U.S. at p. 470; *D.C. Waremart Foods*, 354 F.3d 870.)

---

(Footnote continued from previous page.)

Court rejected an equal protection challenge to Wisconsin's Little Norris-LaGuardia statute by an individual claiming his right to earn a living was unconstitutionally impinged by labor picketing targeted against him. *Senn* dealt with picketing *on a public street*, and did not in any context consider the First Amendment or content discrimination issues addressed years later in *Mosley* and *Carey*. (Slip. Op., p. 26.)

**B. Section 1138.1.**

Section 1138.1, subdivision (a), provides that no California court has “authority to issue a temporary or permanent injunction in any case involving or growing out of a labor dispute” except after a hearing is held, testimony heard, and findings made that (among other things) unlawful acts have been threatened, the complainant’s property will suffer substantial and irreparable injury, the complainant has no adequate remedy at law, and the police are unable or unwilling to furnish adequate protection. (Slip Opn., pp. 29-30.)

An injunction, of course, is the appropriate and traditional remedy for a continuing trespass (Slip Opn., p. 28), and in a typical, non-union situation, injunctive relief is obtained on a showing that (i) the moving party will probably prevail on the merits of its claim, (ii) irreparable harm to the plaintiff will result from a refusal to grant a preliminary injunction, and (iii) the potential harm to the plaintiff outweighs the harm the defendant will suffer if an injunction is issued. (*Bank of Stockton v. Church of Soldiers* (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1623, 1625-1626; Slip Opn., pp. 28-29.)

The obstacles added by section 1138.1 impose a virtually insurmountable burden on the private property owner seeking an injunction to stop labor-related activity by requiring proof of an unlawful act other than the trespass, irreparable harm to the property itself, and the inability to obtain police protection — thus using disparate treatment to accomplish the same impermissible end as the Moscone Act. (Slip Opn., pp. 28-33.)

The Court of Appeal acknowledged its contrary decision in *Cal Waremart*, 87 Cal.App.4th 145, where it summarily rejected a First Amendment challenge to section 1138.1, holding now that, had the issue

been fully briefed there as it was here, the Court would have reached a different result. (Slip Opn., p. 31.) Section 1138.1 “is more than just a rule of procedure. In effect, it differentiates speech based on its content and imposes prerequisites that make it virtually impossible for a property owner to obtain injunctive relief.” (Slip Opn., p. 31.) It is unconstitutional.

### **C. The sky is not falling.**

The Union’s argument for review and against the Court of Appeal’s opinion — a screed to the effect that the Third Appellate District has wiped out the Norris-LaGuardia Act and pushed unions back into the 19th century — lacks merit.

The Union’s suggestion that the Court of Appeal’s opinion could somehow “invalidate the federal Norris-LaGuardia Act, as well as the ‘Little Norris-LaGuardia Acts’ enacted by many other states” is a red herring. (Pet. 22-23.) As the Court of Appeal itself noted, “[t]his case presents the question of whether the state, based on the content of the speech, can *force the owner or possessor of real property that is not a public forum to give an uninvited group access to the private property to engage in speech.*” (Slip Opn., p. 2; italics added.) This narrow question has no bearing on federal law where it is settled that there is no automatic exception to criminal trespass laws for labor speech. (*Lechmere, Inc. v. NLRB* (1992) 502 U.S. 527, 531-535; *Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. San Diego County Dist. Council of Carpenters* (1978) 436 U.S. 180, 198 (*Sears*); *Hudgens*, 424 U.S. 507, 517-518; *NLRB v. Babcock & Wilcox Co.* (1956) 351 U.S. 105, 112.)

Under federal law, it is only where some unique circumstance prevents nontrespassory methods of communication with employees

(a company town, a mine, a logging camp, a remote lodge) that a labor dispute may legally spill over onto private property. (*Lechmere*, 502 U.S. at p. 535; *NLRB v. Babcock & Wilcox Co.*, 351 U.S. at p. 112; *Thornhill v. Alabama* (1940) 310 U.S. 88, 104-106; *NLRB v. Lake Superior Lumber Corp.* (6th Cir. 1948) 167 F.2d 147; *Alaska Barite Co.* (1972) 197 N.L.R.B. 1023; *NLRB v. S & H Grossinger's, Inc.* (2d Cir. 1967) 372 F.2d 26.) Of course, this is true even as to non-labor speech. (*Marsh v. Alabama, supra*, 326 U.S. 501 [Jehovah's witness's right to distribute religious literature in company town].)

Unlike federal law, under which trespassory union activity is “far more likely to be unprotected than protected” (*Sears*, 436 U.S. at p. 205), the Moscone Act mandates that trespassory union activity — and only union activity — “*shall be legal.*” (§ 527.3, subd. (b).) There is no similar language in the Norris-LaGuardia Act.

“Little Norris-LaGuardia statutes” adopted by other states have nothing to do with this case, which is about California’s preferential treatment of labor speech on private property — where California stands virtually alone in its position that private commercial property must (without the owner’s consent) be treated as a public free speech zone. (*Fashion Valley*, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 870, 874-876, dissenting opn. of Chin, J.) But even if other states have statutes that *do* impermissibly discriminate in favor of labor speech by exalting labor over all other types of expressive activities, those statutes must be addressed within the borders of the states they control, not by California’s courts. Forty-nine other wrongs would not make our wrongheaded statutes right.

The Union's sky-is-falling diatribes (and the similar screams in the several letters requesting depublication of the Court of Appeal's opinion) are distractions designed to divert this Court's attention from the real issue in this case. (Pet. 4-5, 22-23.) As the Court of Appeal explained, the Union's concerns are imagined, not real. (Slip. Opn., p. 32 [explaining that *Ysursa v. Pocatello Education Association* (2009) \_\_ U.S. \_\_ [172 L.Ed.2d 770], one of the Union's favorite cases, is inapposite because it did not involve a content-based restriction].)

The Court of Appeal's opinion does not jeopardize uncontroversial statutes (certainly not shield laws that protect a person's right to *refuse* to speak) that have nothing to do with the private property issues in our case. There is no parade of horrors and the Union's effort to inject drama into the narrow, relevant issues of this case should be rebuffed. The Court of Appeal understood the issues before it, thoughtfully analyzed the law, and published a cogent decision. It should stand.

**III. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED NOW BECAUSE AN IDENTICAL CASE IS PENDING IN THE FIFTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, AND THIS COURT CAN DECIDE LATER WHETHER REVIEW OF THESE ISSUES IS WARRANTED.**

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